# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

FILED

JUL - 1 2013

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

SANTINE WHITE Defendant-Appellant

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Appeal from the District Court of Geary County, Kansas The Honorable Steven Hornbaker, Judge District Court Case No. 10 CR 345

> Douglas L. Adams #16092 Ney & Adams 200 N. Broadway, Suite 300 Wichita, Kansas 67202 (316) 264-0100 Fax: (316) 264-1771

> > Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant SANTINE WHITE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED – 15 MINUTES

# IN THE **COURT OF APPEALS** OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

SANTINE WHITE Defendant-Appellant

### Nature of the Case

Defendant-Appellant, Santine White, appeals his convictions for Possession of Cocaine With Intent to Sell Within 1000 Feet of a School, and No Tax Stamp, and from the denial of his Motion to Suppress Evidence.

#### Statement of the Issues

Issue I: The search of the Dodge Ram was in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 15 of the Kansas Bill of Rights; consequently, the district court committed reversible error in denying the Defendant's motion to suppress the evidence recovered as a result of that illegal search.

Issue II: The district court committed plain error in failing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of possession of cocaine; as there was some evidence which would reasonably justify a conviction of possession of cocaine, the failure of the court to instruct on the lesser included offenses constitutes plain error and requires reversal of Defendant's convictions.

Issue III: The prosecutor committed prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument by repeatedly referring to facts not in evidence and shifting the State's burden of proof. As a consequence of the prosecutor's misconduct, Defendant was denied a fair trial and his conviction must be reversed.

Issue IV: There was insufficient evidence to sustain Defendant's conviction for possession of cocaine with intent to sell within 1000 feet of a school.

### **Statement of the Facts**

On April 27, 2010, Santine White, Defendant herein, borrowed a Dodge Ram truck from John Eakes, an individual who worked for Defendant. (R. IV, 66; V, 168-69). A sign on the truck read "T & J Sheet Metal," which was the business owned by Mr. Eakes. (R. II, 158-59; 163). At about 9:50 p.m., Defendant drove the Dodge Ram from a residence located at 815 S.W. 11<sup>th</sup> Street in Junction City and drove west on 11<sup>th</sup> Street.

At the same time, Sergeant Todd Godfrey with the Junction City Police Department was driving west on 11<sup>th</sup> Street. (R. V, 5). In the police car with Sgt. Godfrey were Alvin Babcock, a Junction City police officer, and Shawn Peirano, a police officer assigned to the Junction City/Geary County Drug Operations Group. (R. V, 4, 30).

The officers followed the Dodge Ram until it stopped at 11<sup>th</sup> Street and Eisenhower. After coming to a stop, the Dodge Ram signaled a right turn onto Eisenhower. Babcock later testified that this constituted a traffic violation because a turn signal must be activated within 100 feet of an intersection. (R. V, 17). The officers, however, did not stop the Dodge Ram at this time. In fact, no citation was ever given for this alleged violation. (R. IV, 61).

The officers continued to follow the Dodge Ram for about three blocks. Godfrey called in the tag numbers for the truck, and dispatch informed him that the tag came back to a Dodge Dakota. (R. V, 7). According to Peirano's affidavit, Godfrey activated the lights on his police

car, and the Dodge Ram pulled into a driveway on 1376 Parkside. (R. III, 240; V, 39). Godfrey would later testify that the activation of his lights was simultaneous with the Dodge Ram pulling into the driveway. (R. IV, 10).

Babcock approached the driver's side of the Dodge Ram while Peirano approached the vehicle on the passenger's side. (R. V, 7, 23). Defendant began to get out of the truck, and Babcock ordered him back inside. Defendant complied and stayed in the vehicle. (R. V, 6). Babcock had previous contact with Defendant about a month before when Babcock arrested Defendant's brother for possessing narcotics and a weapon. (R. IV, 11-12). The officers were apparently unaware that, at the time they stopped Defendant on April 27, the charges against Defendant's brother had been dismissed. (R. IV, 52).

Babcock told Defendant that he had been stopped for the tag violation, and asked Defendant for his license and registration. (R. IV, 12). Defendant told Babcock that this was not his vehicle and that he had borrowed it from Eakes. (R. IV, 23). He reached over and opened the glove box to retrieve the registration from the vehicle. Peirano, who was standing on the passenger side and shining a flashlight into the Dodge Ram, saw a "black solid oblong item" in the glove box. Peirano thought the object looked like a pistol grip or the magazine of a handgun. He did not say anything to Babcock at the time. (R. II, 230; V, 32).

Babcock checked the registration with the VIN number and found that they matched. He was then informed that dispatch had run the wrong tag number. (R. V, 8, 14-15, 22). Babcock then gave the registration paperwork back to Defendant and told him that everything checked out and he was "good to go." (R. V, 8).

The officers then drove down several blocks to a cul-de-sac where they met Officer Fisher who was sitting in a marked Tahoe. (R. V, 24). Peirano happened to mention that he thought he saw a magazine well of a firearm when Defendant opened the glove-box. Fisher told him that it was against a city ordinance to have a loaded firearm in a vehicle. (R. II, 147).

The officers then re-initiated contact with Defendant for the purpose of determining whether there was a loaded gun in the vehicle. (R. V, 27). This occurred within two to three minutes after their initial contact with Defendant. (R. II, 147-48). Defendant was outside of the Dodge Ram and looking behind a trash can that was located at the residence on 1376 Parkside. (R. II, 231).

Peirano asked if he could speak with Defendant for a minute, and Defendant walked back with Peirano to the driver's side of the Dodge Ram. Peirano told Defendant that he thought he saw a handgun in the glove box during their initial encounter. Defendant again stated that the truck did not belong to him, and that he did not know what was in the glove box. (R. II, 232). Peirano testified that he asked Defendant if the officer could search the vehicle for weapons. According to Peirano, Defendant stated that he could search the vehicle for weapons; however, Defendant indicated that he had lost the keys. (R. II, 232).

Defendant then called his wife to see if she could bring an extra set of keys to the location. His wife responded that she would meet him at the end of the block. (R. V, 33-34). Officers Peirano and Fisher both walked beside Defendant to the end of the block. (R. V, 11). Peirano then received a call from Godfrey that the keys had been located behind the trash can where Defendant had been looking. Godfrey then told Peirano to bring Defendant back to the Dodge Ram. (R. II, 233).

Thereafter, the officers called for a K-9 Unit to come to the location to perform a free-air sniff around the Dodge Ram. (R. V, 35). About thirty minutes later, the K-9 Unit arrived; however, the dog did not alert on the vehicle. (R. IV, 25; I, 44).

At this point, Peirano used the key-bob and unlocked the Dodge Ram. He searched the glove box of the vehicle and located a clip from an AK-47 which contained several rounds. A search of the passenger side turned up nothing else. (R. V, 36-37). At the time of the search, Officers Fisher and Babcock were guarding Defendant, who was standing about 10 feet from the truck. (R. II, 191-92).

Godfrey believed that there could be a weapon somewhere in the vehicle based upon finding the AK-47 clip in the glove box, and the fact that a Glock and a 9 mm pistol had been found when Defendant's brother was arrested one month before. (R. V, 46). The AK-47 clip, however, would fit neither a Glock nor any other pistol. (R. V, 46).

Nevertheless, Godfrey searched the driver's side and the center console for a loaded firearm. (R. II, 184). When he lifted up the center console, Godfrey found a small, black felt bag. He opened the bag and saw what he believed to be packaged cocaine. (R. II, 185). Godfrey then ordered Defendant to be placed in handcuffs. (R. V, 60).

The small felt bag contained a plastic bag which itself contained three smaller bags of white powder that later tested positive for cocaine. The three bags contained 10.10 grams, 2.2 grams, and 2.08 grams of cocaine respectively for a total of 14.30 grams. In addition, there was no tax stamp affixed to the packages. (R. II, 202-203).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>There was also evidence that Peirano observed a picture on Defendant's phone showing Defendant holding an AK-47 and a pistol; however, the record is not entirely clear regarding when Peirano actually observed the picture. (R. V, 47).

Defendant was subsequently charged with Possession of Cocaine With Intent to Sell Within 1000 Feet of a School and No Drug Tax Stamp. (R. I, 27-28). His motions to suppress the cocaine were subsequently overruled. Defendant's motion to dismiss the charge of possession with intent to sell within 1000 feet of a school was also denied. (R. I, 115-118).

Defendant was tried by jury on October 4-5, 2012. A KBI latent print examiner testified that she lifted two of Defendant's prints from the sandwich bag that contained the three smaller bags of cocaine. (R. II, 209-210). None of Defendant's prints were found on the bags that actually contained the cocaine. (R. II, 216-16).

Michael Life, a member of the Junction City/Geary County Drug Operations Group, testified that the manner in which the three bags were packaged established that they were possessed with the intent to sell. (R. III, 260-, 265).

Clarence Mahieu, an engineer assistant with Junction City, testified that the entire route between 815 W. 11<sup>th</sup> Street and 1376 Parkside Drive was within 1000 feet of a school or structures used by a school. (R. III, 255-56). No testimony or evidence was offered to show whether the structures used by the school, specifically ball fields, along this route were exclusively owned or leased by the school, or whether the school had permissive use of the facilities.

Defendant declined to testify and defense counsel did not put on any evidence. (R. III, 266-68).

In closing arguments, the prosecutor twice told the jury that Defendant was not driving home because Parkside Drive was not on his way home. (R. III, 297, 299). Previously during the trial, the prosecutor attempted to introduce, through Det. Babcock, that Parkside Drive was

nowhere near the route Defendant would have taken to drive to his home as an attempt to counter the defense that Defendant was on his way home when he pulled into the residence on Parkside. (R. III, 251). The district court sustained defense counsel's objection, and noted that the court had concerns about the relevancy of this testimony. *Id*.

The prosecutor further argued that Defendant was trying to get away from somebody or was trying to hide his sale of drugs from law enforcement because he turned his vehicle in a direction opposite from his home. (R. III, 299-300). Following that, he said Defendant was trying to avoid detection from whoever was behind him whether it was cops or somebody he owed money or drugs to. (R. III, 301-02).

Next, the prosecutor argued in regard to the fingerprint expert that because the defense didn't cross examine the expert that the defense could not legitimately argue the burden of proof had not been met. (R. III, 324). At that point defense counsel objected to the burden shifting argument. The district court overruled the objection. (R. III, 324). The prosecutor continued with the same burden shifting argument with the dog handler witness testimony as well as the testimony of Lieutenant Life. (R. III, 324-25).

Finally, the prosecutor insinuated that the defense theory was complete nonsense because attacking the credibility of officers is a classic pitch of last resort for defendants. (R. III, 325).

Defendant was subsequently found guilty by the jury as charged. (R. I, 169). His motions for new trial and judgment of acquittal were subsequently overruled. Defendant was sentenced to 49 months for the possession charge, and 6 months for the drug tax stamp charge to be served concurrent with one another. (R. VI, 62-63). Defendant's motion for dispositional

departure was sustained, and he was placed on probation under the supervision of community corrections for a period of 36 months. (R. VI, 62).

Defendant filed a timely notice of appeal. (R. I, 213). Additional facts will be related below in the discussion of the issues that are being raised on appeal.

# **Arguments and Authorities**

Issue I: The search of the Dodge Ram was in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 15 of the Kansas Bill of Rights; consequently, the district court committed reversible error in denying the Defendant's motion to suppress the evidence recovered as a result of that illegal search.

In <u>State v. McGinnis</u>, 290 Kan. 547, 551, 233 P.3d 246 (2010), the Kansas Supreme Court set forth the applicable standard of review when an appellate court reviews a district court's ruling on a motion to suppress:

[T]his court reviews the factual underpinnings of a district court's decision for substantial competent evidence and the ultimate legal conclusion drawn from those facts de novo. The ultimate determination of the suppression of evidence is a legal question requiring independent appellate review. [Citation omitted.] The State bears the burden to demonstrate that a challenged search or seizure was lawful.

In the present case, Defendant filed pre-trial motions to suppress the evidence seized from the Dodge Ram. (R. I, 29-84). A hearing was held on the motion on August 23, 2011. (R. IV, 1-86). The district court subsequently denied those motions in an order filed September 13, 2011. (R. I, 115-119). Prior to trial, defense counsel entered an objection to the admission of the cocaine during trial, and was granted a continuing objection to this evidence by the district court. (R. II, 110-11). In addition, at the time the State moved to admit the cocaine at trial, defense counsel again entered a contemporaneous objection. (R. II, 203).

# A. Defendant was seized for Fourth Amendment purposes when law enforcement reinitiated their contact with him in determining whether he had violated the Junction City gun ordinance.

A seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes occurs when application of physical force is used to restrain movement or when a person submits to an assertion of authority. State v. Morris, 276 Kan. 11, 20, 72 P.3d 570 (2003). Defendant was "seized" for Fourth Amendment purposes when he submitted to the officers show of authority when they reinitiated contact with him.

In <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, 460 U.S. 491, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983), police officers identified themselves as narcotics agents, told the defendant they suspected he was transporting narcotics, and asked the defendant to accompany them to the police room. The United States Supreme Court held that the defendant was "effectively seized for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment. These circumstances surely amount to a show of official authority such that 'a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave." at 501-02.

In the present case, Defendant was confronted by at least three police officers who had stopped him only minutes before. All of them were wearing vests with "POLICE" displayed on them, and Officer Fisher was in a marked patrol vehicle. Peirano informed Defendant that he saw a weapon in the glove box of the Dodge Ram and wanted to search it. Defendant was escorted by two police officers wherever he went, and complied when Godfrey ordered them back to the car after finding the keys. The keys were not returned to Defendant. Officer Peirano specifically testified that Defendant "was being detained" just prior to and during the search of the vehicle. (R. V, 47). As in Royer, Defendant was effectively seized by the officers show of

authority. Any reasonable person under these circumstances would not believe he or she was free to leave the scene.

B. Law enforcement lacked a reasonable, articulable suspicion that Defendant had violated the city gun ordinance; consequently, their seizure of Defendant violated the Fourth Amendment.

A limited seizure of an individual by law enforcement under <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1963), and its codification in K.S.A. 22-2402, requires "that the officer have a reasonable and articulable suspicion, based on fact, that the person stopped has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime." <u>State v. DeMarco</u>, 263 Kan. 727, 734, 952 P.2d 1276 (1998).

Reasonable suspicion is "a particularized and objective basis for suspecting the person stopped of criminal activity. . . Something more than an unparticularized suspicion or hunch must be articulated." *Id.* at 735. .

In the present case, Peirano "thought" that he saw a pistol grip or magazine clip in the glove box of the Dodge Ram when Defendant briefly opened the glove box to retrieve the registration. (R. II, 147) The officer said nothing, however, until after the initial traffic stop was over, and Peirano had joined the other officers several blocks down the street. It was at that time that Peirano was informed that a Junction City ordinance prohibited the carrying of a loaded firearm in a vehicle.

Peirano was not even sure whether what he saw in the glove box was the butt of a gun or an ammunition clip. However, having a gun or a clip in the Dodge Ram did not violate the city ordinance. The ordinance was violated only if a person carried "a pistol, revolver or other

firearm with ammunition in the chamber or magazine . . . in a motor vehicle." (R. I, 36). (Emphasis added).

Peirano had no idea whether what he saw in the glove-box was a loaded firearm or not. He clearly testified that the officers re-initiated contact with Defendant because "it *could* be a violation." (R. IV, 62) (emphasis added). This was simply speculation or a hunch on Peirano's part, and did not constitute a particularized and objective basis to believe that Defendant had violated the gun ordinance by carrying a loaded firearm in a vehicle. As such, the seizure of Defendant violated the Fourth Amendment, and required suppression of the cocaine.

C. Alternatively, the officers exceeded the scope and duration of the investigative seizure of Defendant by failing to diligently pursue their investigation of whether there was a loaded firearm in the Dodge Ram, and by detaining Defendant for more than thirty minutes to conduct a canine air-sniff for drugs.

Alternatively, if this Court determines that the officers' seizure of Defendant was constitutional, then the officers exceeded the scope and duration of that investigative seizure. The reasonableness of a seizure is analyzed under the principles of <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889, and K.S.A. 22-2402(1). The analysis under Terry has two parts: 1) "whether the officer's action was justified at its inception," and 2) "whether it was reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place." 392 U.S. at 20.

With respect to the proper scope of a <u>Terry</u> stop, the Kansas Supreme Court in <u>State v.</u> Smith, 286 Kan. 402, 184 P.3d 890 (2008), set forth the analytical framework:

In <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, 460 U.S. 491, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983), the Court determined "[i]t is the State's burden to demonstrate that the seizure it seeks to justify on the basis of a reasonable suspicion was sufficiently limited in scope *and* duration to satisfy the conditions of an investigative seizure."

(Emphasis added.) 460 U.S. at 500, 103 S.Ct. 1319. Regarding the limitation on the duration of the traffic stop, the Court stated that "an investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop. Similarly, the investigative methods employed should be the least intrusive means reasonably available to verify or dispel the officer's suspicion in a short period of time." 460 U.S. at 500, 103 S.Ct. 1319.

To determine whether law enforcement officers have complied with the temporal limitation articulated for evaluating the propriety of a <u>Terry</u> stop, courts must "take into account whether the police diligently pursue[d] their investigation." <u>United States v. Place</u>, 462 U.S. 696, 709, 103 S.Ct. 2637, 77 L.Ed.2d 110 (1983). Specifically, courts examine "whether the police diligently pursued a means of investigation that was likely to confirm or dispel their suspicions quickly, during which time it was necessary to detain the defendant." <u>United States v. Sharpe</u>, 470 U.S. 675, 686, 105 S.Ct. 1568, 84 L.Ed.2d 605 (1985).

286 Kan. at 410. (Emphasis in original).

In the present case, the entire purpose of stopping Defendant the second time was to determine whether there had been a violation of the city firearm ordinance. The officers were required to diligently pursue a means of investigation that would either confirm or dispel their suspicions quickly. Assuming, *arguendo*, that Defendant consented to the search of the vehicle, law enforcement had the means of quickly confirming or dispelling their suspicion that a loaded firearm was in the Dodge Ram. When Godfrey found the keys to the vehicle, he had immediate access to the vehicle to look for any weapon in the glove box.

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