No. 12-109118-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE
STATE OF KANSAS

OCT 3 0 2013

CAROL G. GREEN
CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellee/Cross-Appellant

V.

SANTINE WHITE
Defendant-Appellant/Cross-Appellee

Brief of Appellee/Cross-Appellant

Appeal from the District Court of Geary County
The Honorable Steven Hornbaker
District Court Case No. 12-CR-345

Approved

OCT 3 0 2013

Attorney General of Kansas
BY NC S. Ct. Rule 6.10

Tony Cruz #18366
Assistant County Attorney
Geary County, Kansas
801 N. Washington St., Suite A
Junction City, Kansas 66441
(785) 762-4343
(785) 762-6778 (Fax)
geca@nqks.com
Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellee/
Cross-Appellant

No. 12-109118-A

OF THE

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

Whether an encounter between an individual and law enforcement may be properly viewed as a consensual encounter turns on whether the law enforcement officer's conduct, viewed within the totality of the circumstances, would have permitted a reasonable person to feel free to refuse the requests of law enforcement or otherwise

terminate the encounter. *State v. Pollman*, 286 Kan. 881, 190 P.3d 234 (2008). The defendant even testified at the suppression hearing. He never claimed he was coerced or forced to give consent. He never testified he felt detained or was not free to leave. There is no evidence in the record to indicate that the consent given by the defendant was involuntary or coerced. *State v. Ransom*, 289 Kan. 373, 212 P.3d 203 (2009).

B. Officers Had Probable Cause to Search The Defendant's Truck For a Firearm.

Assuming arguendo that the defendant's consent was invalid, the officers had probable cause to search the truck for a firearm. Capt. Peirano's testimony throughout this case has been that he believed he saw a pistol or the bottom of a magazine in the glove box. After consulting with Sgt. Godfrey and Det. Babcock, the officers believed a loaded gun was in the glove box of the truck the defendant was driving. The officers also knew, that a month before, the defendant and his brother were stopped and arrested for having drugs and a 9mm pistol. The defendant argues that all Capt. Peirnao had was a "hunch" of a possible municipal code violation. Probable cause to search a vehicle is established when "under the totality of the circumstances," there is a fair probability that the vehicle contains contraband. United States v. Nielsen, 9 F.3d 1487, 1489-90 (10th Cir. 1993). In State v. Doile, 244 Kan. 493, 769 P.2d 666 (1989), our Kansas Supreme Court held that a short delay between observing contraband in a parked vehicle, and conducting a traffic stop based on the prior observation was lawful. In *Doile*, the officer observed what he believed to be marijuana in a parked vehicle. A short time later, the officer observed the vehicle leaving and stopped it. Without a warrant, the officer searched the vehicle. The seizure and warrantless search were upheld. See also State v. Moretz, 214

Kan. 370, 520 P.2d 1260 (1974)(Officer observed items in plain view during a routine traffic stop. The following day, he became aware that the items were possibly stolen. He observed the vehicle again, stopped it and received consent to search for other stolen property). The finding of a loaded magazine in a vehicle gave officer probable cause to continue searching for firearms and ammunition. See *United States v. Alvarado* (1994 WL 31466) (D. Kan) (Unpublished Opinion-Copy Attached).

C. The Officers Diligently Pursued Searching the Defendant's Truck.

The defendant argues the officers dragged out this investigatory stop by waiting 30 minutes for a canine to arrive. However, the only citation appellate counsel has been able to cite to the appellate record is a citation to a motion filed by trial counsel (R. I, p. 44). A reading of the record, indicates that while the officers were locating for the "lost" keys and waiting for the defendant's wife to arrive, a canine was called. But there is nothing to indicate that it took 30 minutes for a drug canine to arrive. Furthermore, if the officer already had the keys, they did not need to wait for a canine to alert to the odor of drugs, especially since they had probable cause to search and/or consent to search the truck.

D. The Consent to Search the Defendant's Truck Was Valid

The State has addressed part of this issue in subsection A, but will elaborate a bit further. The defendant has cited *State v. Blair*, 31 Kan.App.2d 202, 209-210, 62 P.3d 661 (2002), as support for his claim that the defendant was not allowed to move without a police escort. The uncontroverted evidence in this case is that the defendant requested

Capt. Peirano to accompany him while he called his wife. In *Blair*, officers smelled what they believed to be ether emanating from Blair's house. Officers admitted that Blair could not go back into his home without an officer being with him and restricted his movements by confining him to the front porch. No such facts are present in this case. The defendant was never restrained, except after cocaine was found in his vehicle. The defendant never voiced an objection to the search of the truck. The defendant also urges this court to find that the defendant's consent was not voluntary as the officers failed to advise the defendant of his right to refuse consent. The defendant has cited *State v*. *Parker*, 282 Kan. 584, 595, 147 P.3d 115 (2006). However, the defendant's reliance on a single sentence is misplaced.

"Voluntariness is a question of fact to be determined based on the totality of the circumstances in each particular case. Whether the defendant knew that he or she had the right to refuse to consent to a search is a factor to be considered in making a voluntariness determination, but the State 'is not required to demonstrate such knowledge as a prerequisite to establishing a voluntary consent." "State v. Thompson, 284 Kan. 763, 783, 166 P.3d 1015 (2007) (quoting Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 248–49, 36 L.Ed.2d 854, 93 S.Ct. 2041 [1973]).

As this court must use a totality of the circumstances analysis in determining whether the defendant's consent was valid, no single factor outweighs the others. Given the facts in this case, the defendant voluntarily consented to the search of his truck. He was not coerced, his movements were not restricted by law enforcement, and there is no evidence that the defendant was intimated by the officers. There is substantial competent evidence to support the trial court's finding that the defendant consented to the search of his truck.

E. The Officers Did Not Exceed the Scope of the Consent to Search.

Sgt. Godfrey testified at jury he was looking for both a loaded firearm and ammunition (R. II, p. 184). As ammunition and firearms go hand in hand, and the officers had already found a loaded AK 47 magazine and knew the defendant had been in possession of a Glock 9mm handgun just a month before, the search of the truck, to include a felt bag was not beyond the scope of the consent to search. As already cited by the State, the 10th Circuit has held that finding of loaded magazine and or ammunition is probable cause to continue searching a vehicle. United States v. Alvarado (1994 WL 31466)(D. Kan). Furthermore, the officer s were looking for any and all types of firearms, to include pistols. The Junction City Municipal code does not merely ban loaded AK 47s, but also includes loaded pistols. Sgt. Godfrey testified he was looking for firearms and ammunition. If he had found 9mm bullets in the felt bag, as opposed to cocaine, would it not be reasonable for him to look for a gun that fires 9mm ammunition? "The presence of ammunition would be indicative of the presence of firearms, the ultimate goal of the search." U.S. v. Gaines, 127 F.3d 1109 (10th Cir. Okl.)(1997)(Upholding the search of a Crown Royal bag for ammunition, in which cocaine was found instead).

ISSUE II: THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT COMMIT PLAIN ERROR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT ON LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE AS THE DEFENDANT CLAIMED THE COCAINE WAS NOT HIS.

Standard of Review

"When a defendant has requested a lesser included instruction at

trial, the standard of review for failing to so instruct is whether the evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant, supported the instruction. The instruction need not have been given if the evidence would not have permitted a rational factfinder to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of the lesser included offense." *State v. Jones*, 279 Kan. 395, Syl. ¶ 1, 109 P.3d 1158 (2005).

Whether a crime is a lesser included offense of another is a question of law over which this court has unlimited review. *State v. Gallegos*, 286 Kan. 869, 873, 190 P.3d 226 (2008).

Arguments

A trial court is only required to give an instruction on a lesser included offense if there is some evidence that would reasonably justify a conviction for the lesser included offense. K.S.A. 22-3414(3). In this particular case, the defendant's entire defense was that the cocaine was not his. The truck the defendant was driving belonged to a third party. Lt. Life's uncontroverted testimony was that the three bags of cocaine were consistent with possession with the intent to sell. Det. Babcock testified that, when the defendant was arrested, officers did not find paraphernalia to ingest cocaine (R. III, p. 169). During the jury instruction conference, the State objected to the giving of an instruction for simple possession as there wasn't any evidence to support a simple possession conviction (R. III, pp. 272-274). The trial court agreed that there was no evidence to contradict the State's evidence that the cocaine was possessed with the intent to sell. A trial has the duty to instruct on a lesser included offense, even if the evidence is weak, inconclusive, and consists of only the defendant's testimony. *State v. Kirkpatrick*, 286 Kan. 329, 334, 184 P.3d 247 (2008). In this case, as no evidence was

admitted to suggest the defendant possessed cocaine for personal use, the trial court's refusal to instruct on a simple possession does not constitute plain error.

However, even if the instruction was legally appropriate, any error would have been harmless because of the evidence.

ISSUE III: THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Standard of Review

Appellate review of an allegation of prosecutorial misconduct requires a two-step analysis. First, an appellate court decides whether the comments were outside the wide latitude that a prosecutor is allowed in discussing the evidence. Second, if misconduct is found, an appellate court must determine whether the improper comments prejudiced the jury against the defendant and denied the defendant a fair trial. *State v. Marshall*, 294 Kan. 850, 281 P.3d 1112 (2012).

Arguments

When a prosecutor makes an improper comment during closing argument, an appellate court conducts a harmlessness inquiry, determining whether the misconduct was so prejudicial that it denied the defendant a fair trial. Three factors are considered. First, was the misconduct gross and flagrant? Second, was the misconduct motivated by ill will? Third, was the evidence of such a direct and overwhelming nature that the misconduct would likely have had little weight in a juror's mind? None of these three factors is individually controlling." *State v. Marshall*, 294 Kan. 850, 281 P.3d 1112 (2012).

A. Prosecutor's Comments During Closing Arguments Were based on Admitted Evidence.

The defendant alleges that the prosecutor made prejudicial and inappropriate

comments concerning evidence that was not admitted during trial. (Refer to defendant's appeal brief, pp. 23-24). The prosecutor's comments during closing arguments referred to evidence that was admitted into evidence, which included State's Exhibit #2, being an aerial map of the area. The prosecutor's comments also refuted defense counsel's "story line" during opening statements. This map will be added to the appellate record. The prosecution is allowed to offer rebuttal argument or to refute defense counsel's opening statements. *Pickens v. Gibson*, 206 F.3d 988, 999 (2000) (The 10th Circuit Court of Appeals held that as long as a prosecutor does not comment on the defendant's failure to testify, a prosecutor may comment on defendant's failure to call witnesses or present certain testimony). See also *People v. Harris*, 47 Cal.3d 1047, 255 Cal.Rptr. 352, 767 P.2d 619 (1989).

B. Prosecutor's Comments Did Not Denigrate the Defendant, Nor His Defense Counsel.

Furthermore, the defendant alleges the State denigrated the defense. However, in the case cited by the defense, *State v. Williams*, 279 P.3d 739 (2012), the comments were similar, but not identical to the prosecutor's comments in this case. However, this court found that the comments made by the prosecutor in Williams, did not constitute prosecutorial misconduct. These comments were in response to defense counsel's arguments concerning the State's witnesses. See *State v. Bradshaw*, 245 P.3d. 12 (2011) (Unpublished Opinion-Copy Attached)(Appellate court found prosecutor's comments refuting defense counsel's attack of State's witnesses as incompetent, during closing arguments, as proper rhetoric).

C. State Did Not Attempt to Shift the Burden to the Defendant.

The defendant also alleges the State attempted to shift the burden by arguing to the jury that the defense had failed to rebut the State's evidence. The prosecution is allowed to comment on the weakness of a defense theory. State v. McKinney, 272 Kan. 331, 33 P.3d 234 (2001). The defendant specifically points out to comments made by the prosecution of defense counsel's failure to cross- exam some of the State's witnesses. These comments were in response to trial counsel's arguments. See State v. Naputi, 293 Kan. 55, 260 P.3d 86 (2011) (Kansas Supreme Court held prosecution's comments about defense counsel's failure to subpoena witnesses did not constitute burden shifting). The same logic applies in this case. Defense counsel argued about the alleged deficiencies in the State's evidence, to include the latent fingerprint examination, "Did she show you a fingerprint card?" (R. III, p. 318). "But no. Don't rely on evidence, just rely on what I tell you." However, as noted by the record, trial counsel did very little cross-examination of the KBI scientists and Lt. Life to refute their testimony under direct examination, yet wanted to comment on the deficiencies in their testimony. As an advocate, is the prosecutor not expected to respond to such comments? Especially since trial counsel had the opportunity to use the State's witnesses to refute the State's evidence, yet chose to make closing arguments about thing not asked on cross-examination. As to the latent prints, trial counsel could have asked to see a fingerprint card and could have requested the examiner to show the jury the points on identification she used to positively identify the defendant's prints to those found on the plastic baggie. Yet, he chose not to. He chose to make arguments inferring the deficiency of the State's evidence, rather than eliciting

testimony to support his defense.

D. The Prosecutor's Comments During Closing Arguments Did Not Prejudice The Defendant's Right to A Fair Trial.

The defendant argues that the prosecutor's comments during closing arguments constituted a "script." Unlike the facts in State v. Morris, 40 Kan. App. 2d 769, 196 P.3d 422 (2008), the prosecutor in this case never advised the jury he knew what the defendant was thinking. The comments made by the prosecutor were in response to the defense's theory as to the actions of the defendant on the evening he was arrested. In his opening statements, defense counsel alluded to several facts that were not admitted into evidence, however, they were presented to the jury as what the evidence was going to show (R. II, pp. 127-140). Such comments pointing out discrepancies between defense counsel's opening statements and the evidence admitted have been held permissible by our Kansas Supreme Court. See State v. Deiteman, 271 Kan. 975, 988, 29 P.3d 411 (2001) (The Court held that while opening statements are not evidence, they are a "story line" in which the evidence should fall into. It is appropriate to point out missing pieces). Defense counsel's entire opening statement suggested that the jury was going to hear a lot of evidence concerning the defendant activities the night he was arrested, such as where he had been, where he was heading (home), why he had borrowed the truck. Too many facts to list here, but they are all part of the record. None of those facts were admitted into evidence.

Even if these comments were improper, an appellate court conducts a harmless error inquiry, determining whether the misconduct was so prejudicial that it denied the

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